2003

# Vestin Mortgage, Inc. v. First American Title Insurance Company. a California Corporation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **JURISDICTION**

This Court has jurisdiction under Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(j) because this case was transferred from the Supreme Court. Original appellate jurisdiction was proper in the Supreme Court under Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(j) because this is an appeal from an order of a court of record over which this Court did not have original appellate jurisdiction.

## **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW, STANDARDS OF REVIEW, AND PRESERVATION BELOW**

The issues presented by this appeal are as follows:

1.     **Issue:** Whether the district court erred in concluding as a matter of law that the title insurance policies at issue in this appeal are unambiguous and that the claims of Vestin Mortgage, Inc. (“Vestin”) are not covered under the policies.

**Standard of Review:** In determining whether a district court properly granted a motion to dismiss, an appellate court accepts factual allegations in the complaint as true and considers them, along with all reasonable inferences to be drawn from those facts, in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Krouse v. Bower*, 2001 UT 28 ¶ 2, 20 P.3d 895, 897 (Utah 2001). Because the propriety of a motion to dismiss is a question of law, an appellate court reviews a dismissal for correctness, giving no deference to the decision of the district court. *Hebertson v. Willow Creek Plaza*, 923 P.2d 1389, 1390 (Utah 1996).

Because the district court considered matters outside the pleadings, the Motion to Dismiss should have been treated by the district court as a motion for summary judgment. *See* Utah R. Civ. P. 12(b). Summary judgment is appropriate only when the record indicates that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c); *Clover v. Snowbird Ski Resort*, 808 P.2d 1037, 1039 (Utah 1991); *Allen v. Ortez*, 802 P.2d 1307, 1309 (Utah 1990). The appellate court reviews a trial court's order granting summary judgment for correctness, according no deference to the trial court's legal conclusions. *Clover*, 808 P.2d at 1039-40. In reviewing the trial court's ruling, the appellate court accepts the facts and inferences in the light most favorable to the losing party. *Id.*; *Farmers New World Life Ins. Co. v. Bountiful City*, 803 P.2d 1241, 1243 (Utah 1990). If this Court concludes that a genuine issue of material fact exists, it must reverse the district court's grant of summary judgment and remand that issue to the district court for trial. *Atlas Corp. v. Clovis National Bank*, 737 P.2d 225, 229 (Utah 1989).

Whether an ambiguity exists in a contract is a question of law. If a district court reaches a legal conclusion that an ambiguity exists in a contract, a factual issue as to the parties' intent remains and a motion for summary judgment may not be granted. *WebBank v. American Gen. Annuity Serv. Corp.*, 2002 UT 88, ¶ 22, 54 P.3d 1139, 1145 (Utah 2002).

**Preservation of Issue in District Court:** This issue was preserved in the district court in Plaintiff's Memorandum in Opposition to Motion to Dismiss filed on August 13, 2003. (R. 234-244).

2. **Issue:** Whether the district court erred in failing to construe the policies to provide coverage to Vestin because First American failed to disclose and exclude from coverage the existence of the Eagle Mountain Special Improvement District in the title insurance policies at issue in this appeal.

**Standard of Review:** Questions of contract interpretation are questions of law for which this Court accords no deference to the conclusions of the district court. *See Meadow Valley Contractors v. Transcon Ins. Co.* 2001 UT App 190 ¶ 13, 27 P.3d 594, 597 (Utah Ct. App. 2001).

**Preservation of Issue in District Court:** This issue was preserved in the district court in Plaintiff's Memorandum in Opposition to Motion to Dismiss filed August 13, 2004. (R. 235-244).

### **DETERMINATIVE PROVISIONS**

There are no constitutional provisions, statutes, ordinances, rules or regulations whose interpretation is determinative of this appeal. Relevant law is discussed as appropriate in the body of this brief.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### **A. Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings, and Disposition Below**

This is an appeal from an Order of Dismissal with Prejudice dismissing Vestin's Complaint. *See* Addendum Exhibit 1. (R. 434-436). The Order was specifically based on "the record" submitted to the district court (R. 434) which included the evidence submitted by Vestin. Judge Noel did not exclude this evidence in considering First American's motion.

On May 30, 2003, Vestin filed its Complaint in this action alleging breach of two title insurance policies issued by First American that insured Vestin's title in two separate trust deeds. *See* Addendum Exhibits 2, 3 and 4. (R. 1-52).

On July 11, 2003, First American filed a Motion to Dismiss ("Motion") pursuant to Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6), asserting that Vestin's Complaint failed to state a claim upon which relief could be granted. (R. 55-58).

On August 13, 2003, Vestin filed Plaintiff's Memorandum in Opposition to Motion to Dismiss ("Opposition"). In support of Vestin's Opposition, Vestin filed the Affidavit of Daniel R. Stubbs (Addendum Ex. 5; R. 355-394) and the Affidavit of Thomas E. Lea (Addendum Ex. 6; R. 396-403).

On September 29, 2003, First American filed its Reply Memorandum in Support of Motion to Dismiss. (R. 412-432).

On November 5, 2003, Honorable Frank G. Noel entered an Order of Dismissal with Prejudice. *See* Addendum Ex. 1. (R. 434-436).

On November 12, 2003, Vestin filed its Notice of Appeal and Notice of Bond for Costs on Appeal with the Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County, State of Utah. (R. 439-450).

## **B. Statement of Facts Relevant to the Issues Presented for Review**

### **1. The Title Insurance Policies**

Vestin, or its predecessor, made two separate loans to The Ranches, L.C. ("The Ranches"), a Utah Limited Liability Company. (R. 227). One loan was made on or about April 14, 2000, in the amount of \$1,965,000, and a second loan was made on or



about August 18, 2000, in the amount of \$1,800,000 (jointly the “Loans”). (R. 227). The Loans were secured by two trust deeds (jointly referred to as the “Trust Deeds”). (R. 227).

In connection with the Loans, First American issued two separate policies of title insurance: (i) Policy of Title Insurance, Policy No. 3192-A-49, dated August 28, 2000 (“Policy No. 3192”) (Addendum Ex. 2), insuring the title of Vestin, its successors and assigns, in one of the Trust Deeds, and (ii) Policy of Title Insurance, Policy No. 2701-A-49, dated April 26, 2000 (“Policy No. 2701”) (Addendum Ex. 3), insuring the title of Vestin, then known as Capsource, Inc., doing business as Del Mar Mortgage, and its successors and assigns, in the other of the Trust Deeds. (R. 247-287). The Trust Deeds encumbered real property (“Property”) located within the boundaries of the City of Eagle Mountain in Utah County (“Eagle Mountain City”). (R. 228). Some or all of the right, title and interest of Vestin in the Trust Deeds was assigned to various third parties. (R. 228).

## **2. The Insuring Clauses of the Title Insurance Policies**

The Policies and Endorsements include three separate insuring clauses that are at issue in this appeal. The first of these insuring clauses is contained in the body of the Policies and provides that First American insures against loss or damage, not exceeding the “Amount of Insurance,” sustained or incurred by Vestin or its successors and assigns by reason of any of the following:

- a. defect in or lien or encumbrance on the title;
- b. unmarketability of the title; or,

c. the priority of any lien or encumbrance over the Trust Deeds.

(R. 247, 267) (emphasis added).

As part of the Policies, First American also issued Endorsement F.A., ALTA Form 31, which contains an insuring clause that provides:

[First American] hereby insures against loss which [Vestin] shall sustain by reason of any of the following matters:

1. Any incorrectness in the assurances which [First American] hereby gives:

(a) There are no covenants, conditions, or restrictions under which the lien of the mortgage [of Vestin] can be cut off, subordinated, or otherwise impaired.

(R. 256, 276) (emphasis added).

First American also issued Endorsement CLTA Form 104 in connection with the Policies. This Endorsement contains an insuring clause which provides:

[First American] hereby insures [the assignees of Vestin in the Mortgage] against loss or damage which such insured shall sustain by reason of any of the following: ... The existence of any subsisting tax or assessment lien which is prior to the insured mortgage . . . , [and] the existence of other matters affecting the validity or priority of the lien of the insured mortgage....

(R. 259, 278) (emphasis added).<sup>1</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> The CLTA Form 104 Endorsements to the Policies were issued by First American after the date of the Policies. (R. 232). The CLTA Form 104 Endorsements are obtained by a lender which assigns an interest in or to a trust deed securing a loan to insure the title of the assignee. (R. 232). The Endorsement is issued as of the date of recording the assignment. (R. 232). The CLTA Form 104 Endorsements are effective as of the date of issuance, or otherwise the assignee would not be protected from title defects that may arise between the date of the policy and the date of issuance of the Endorsement. (R. 232). Accordingly, as a general industry practice, a CLTA Form 104 Endorsement (which is a standard title insurance form) is dated as of the date they are issued. (R. 232). However, the CLTA Form 104 Endorsements issued by First American through Century

### 3. The “Police Power” Exclusions

Paragraph 1(b) of the “Exclusions From Coverage” contained in the Policies provides for an exclusion from coverage regarding the exercise of governmental police power, but also provides an exception to that exclusion. The exception to the “police power” exclusion is the provision relevant to the issues in this appeal. The “police power” exclusion and exception are as follows:

The following matters are expressly excluded from the coverage of this policy and the Company will not pay loss or damage, costs, attorney’s fees or expenses which arise by reason of:

....

(b) *Any governmental police power* not excluded by (a) above [which addressing zoning and land use issues], *except to the extent that a notice of the exercise thereof* or a notice of a defect, lien or encumbrance resulting from a violation or alleged violation affecting the land *has been recorded in the public records at Date of Policy*.

(R. 249, 268) (emphasis added). The exception to the “police power” exclusion expressly provides that an exercise of governmental police power that is recorded in the public records is **not** excluded from coverage under the Policies.

### 4. The Creation of the Eagle Mountain Special Improvement District

On or about June 20, 2000, Eagle Mountain City adopted a resolution declaring its intention to create a special improvement district to be known as The Eagle Mountain, Utah Special Improvement District No. 2000-1 (“Eagle Mountain SID”), for the purpose

---

Title Company and part of the Policies were not dated. *See* Addendum Ex. 2 (R. 259-264); Ex. 3 (R. 277-285); (R. 232). Vestin has logged the date of issuance of each CLTA Form 104 issued in connection with the Policies. (R. 232, 355-361). The CLTA Forms were issued after the creation of the Eagle Mountain SID at issue in this matter. (R. 7-8).

of constructing certain improvements and assessing the real property situated within the boundaries of the Eagle Mountain SID. (R. 230). On or about August 1, 2000, Eagle Mountain City adopted Resolution No. 14-00, creating the Eagle Mountain SID. (R. 230).

On or about August 4, 2000, in accordance with Utah Code Ann. § 17A-3-307 (1991), Eagle Mountain City caused to be filed in the Office of the County Recorder of Utah County, Utah, a “Notice of Intention.” (R. 230). The Notice of Intention gave notice that on June 20, 2000, the Town Council of Eagle Mountain City adopted a resolution declaring its intention to create the Eagle Mountain SID for the purpose of constructing certain improvements within the Eagle Mountain SID for a total cost of \$19,350,000, and assessing the real property within the boundaries of the Eagle Mountain SID for the cost of such construction. (R. 230, 289). The Notice of Intention also contained a copy of the Ordinance adopted August 1, 2000, creating the Eagle Mountain SID and proposed Assessments. (R. 230, 289).

Eagle Mountain City adopted an Assessment Ordinance No. 06-2001 (the “Assessment Ordinance”), which, among other things, had the effect of “confirming the assessment rolls and levying an assessment against certain properties in Eagle Mountain, Utah Special Improvement District, Utah County, Utah, for the purpose of paying” various costs of construction of improvements within the Eagle Mountain SID, for a total assessment of \$16,799,282 (the “Assessment”). (R. 230).

Section 5(D) of the Assessment Ordinance provides for the acceleration of the Assessment amount upon the voluntary transfer of title as follows:

To reduce the administrative costs of the District, the Town Council hereby determines that in the event legal title to all or any portion of the property assessed hereunder is voluntarily transferred to another person or entity which is unrelated to the prior owner, the owner of the assessed property shall be required to prepay that portion of the assessment applicable to the transferred parcel.

(R. 231, 340-341).

The Policies did not disclose or except from coverage the Eagle Mountain SID, the Notice of Intention or the intended Assessment, nor was the foregoing excepted from coverage at the time of issuance of the CLTA Form 104 Endorsements. (R. 231). Further, Vestin had no knowledge or information regarding the Eagle Mountain SID or the intended Assessment prior to the execution of the Trust Deeds. (R. 231). The Property is located within the boundaries of the Eagle Mountain SID and has been assessed \$2,241,348.70 of the total accelerated Assessment amount. (R. 231, 335-353).

**5. The Effect of First American's Failure to Disclose and Except the Eagle Mountain SID from Coverage Under the Policies**

As a result of a default in the payment of the indebtedness secured by the Trust Deeds, Vestin caused the Trustee of the Trust Deeds to conduct a Trustee's Sale of the Property, and, as the purchaser at the Trustee's Sales, Vestin acquired title to the Property in its own name and on behalf of said assignees of Vestin. Vestin acquired title to the Property by Trustees' Deed. (R. 231).

After acquiring title to the Property, Vestin entered into an agreement to sell the Property to a third party. (R. 231). In connection with Vestin's sale of the Property, Vestin obtained a title report regarding the Property, and, from such title report, Vestin discovered for the first time that the Property is located within the boundaries of the

Eagle Mountain SID and subject to the Assessment. (R. 231). Vestin also discovered at that time that upon the voluntary sale of the Property, the entire Assessment of \$2,241,348.70 against the Property became immediately due and payable. (R. 232). As a result of Vestin's disclosure to the third party that the Property is located within the boundaries of the Eagle Mountain SID and subject to the Assessment which would become immediately due and payable upon sale of the Property, the third party refused to proceed with the purchase of the Property. (R. 232).

If the preliminary title reports and Policies issued by First American to Vestin had disclosed the existence of the Eagle Mountain SID, and that the Property securing the Loans was within the boundaries of the Eagle Mountain SID, Vestin would have made an investigation to determine the potential assessments and obligations associated with the Assessment. (R. 233, 359.) At the time the Loans were made, a special improvement district, different than the Eagle Mountain SID, was disclosed to Vestin by First American in a preliminary title report. As a result of that disclosure, Vestin investigated the disclosure to determine that such special improvement district did not affect the Property. (R. 233, 359).<sup>2</sup>

If Vestin had been made aware of the Eagle Mountain SID and that the Assessment became immediately due and payable upon a voluntary transfer of title (as opposed to an "involuntary" transfer by foreclosure), Vestin may not have made the

---

<sup>2</sup> Preliminary title reports or commitments for insurance set forth matters of record which will be excepted from coverage of the title policy. I Joyce Palomar, *Title Insurance Law* (2002) § 12:3. The terms "title report," "preliminary title report," and "commitment" refer to the same type of document. *Rosenberg v. Missouri Title Guaranty Co.*, 764 S.W.2d 684, 687 n.2 (Mo. Ct. App. 1988).

Loans at all to avoid the issue of acceleration of the Assessment upon voluntary transfer. (R. 233, 360). Alternatively, Vestin could have structured the Loans to avoid the potential for Vestin acquiring title to the Property in the event of a default or could have avoided a transaction that involved Vestin taking title to the Property through “involuntary” foreclosure proceedings and subsequently transferring title to a third party through a “voluntary” sale. (R. 233, 360). For example, Vestin could have attempted to structure the trustee’s sale in a manner to avoid Vestin taking title to the Property (R. 233-234, 360), or could have marketed the Property and attempted to have a developer purchase the Property at the trustee’s sale. (R. 233-234, 360). However, because Vestin was not aware of the Eagle Mountain SID, Vestin acquired title to the Property through a trustee’s sale. (R. 233-234, 360). As a result, Vestin cannot now sell the Property without paying the full Assessment applicable to the Property, which is in excess of \$2,241,348.70. (R. 233-234, 360).

As a general industry practice, a preliminary title report and title policy will disclose as exceptions to coverage all actions by governmental entities or agencies that are empowered to assess or levy liens against the property, such as special improvement districts. (R. 232, 359). In the case of a title insurance policy issued for protection of a lender’s title interest, as in this case, this is especially important because such an assessment can and does reduce the available equity in the property securing a loan. (R. 232, 359).

Consistent with industry practice, First American issued a title insurance policy to Integrated Financial Associates (“IFA”) prior to the Assessment Ordinance adopted by

Eagle Mountain City regarding real property within the Eagle Mountain SID. In that policy, unlike the subject Policies, First American in fact specifically disclosed and excepted from coverage the Eagle Mountain SID that is the subject of this appeal. (R. 234, 396-397).

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

This action was brought by Vestin to recover under the two Policies issued by First American to insure Vestin's title in two separate Trust Deeds. The Trust Deeds secured the payment of the Loans made by Vestin to The Ranches. The Policies issued by First American did not disclose, or otherwise exclude or except from coverage, a Notice of Intention recorded by the City of Eagle Mountain with the Office of the Utah County Recorder to create the Eagle Mountain SID and assess the real property located within the boundaries of the Eagle Mountain SID. The Property is located within the boundaries of the Eagle Mountain SID. After the loans were in place, the Assessment for the Eagle Mountain SID was levied against the Property in the amount of \$2,241,348.70.

The Policies insure in three separate insuring clauses against defects in title, incorrectness in the representations made by First American in the Policies and other matters affecting title. Because the Policies provide coverage for First American's failure to disclose the Eagle Mountain SID under the insuring clauses, the district court erred in ruling as a matter of law that the Policies are unambiguous and do not provide coverage to Vestin.

The Policies do exclude from coverage the exercise of governmental police powers, such as the creation of the Eagle Mountain SID. However, an exception to the

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