2003

# Vestin Mortgage, Inc. v. First American Title Insurance Company : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Vestin’s claim violates the fundamental principle of title insurance law—namely, that title insurance covers only defects and conditions which exist on or before the effective date of a title policy. Here, Vestin seeks coverage for a purported injury which arose eight months *after* First American issued the title policies.

Recognizing that the true source of its alleged injury is not covered because it arose post-policy, on appeal Vestin stretches to identify some condition existing pre-policy that can be spun into an argument for coverage. Despite having conceded that its purported injury was caused by the post-policy assessment lien, Vestin focuses on two



preliminary steps in the process by which a municipality levies an assessment—namely, Eagle Mountain City’s recording of a notice of intention to levy an assessment and its creation of a special improvement district. Vestin argues that, because First American did not disclose these preliminary steps, Vestin’s post-policy injury resulting from the levied assessment is covered under the policies.

Unfortunately for Vestin, these early steps amounted only to preliminary information suggesting that a lien might be levied at some time in the future. The authorities almost uniformly provide that title insurance does not cover such claims. The trial court agreed, and First American respectfully asks that this Court affirm the lower court’s decision.

As argued more fully below, Vestin’s appeal fails under the unambiguous language of the policies at issue. Vestin’s alleged injury was caused post-policy when Eagle Mountain levied the assessment. As a “defect, lien, or encumbrance” arising post-policy, Vestin’s claim is barred by the plain language of the policy jackets and paragraph 3(d) of the Exclusions from Coverage, which bars coverage for “defects, liens, encumbrances, adverse claims, or other matters . . . attaching or created subsequent to Date of Policy.” The policies’ Form 104 endorsements insure against “subsisting tax or assessment liens,” confirming that an assessment lien must be in existence on the policy dates for the lien to be covered.

While Vestin contends that the special improvement district and the notice of intention are “defects” affecting Vestin’s title, that argument fails because neither of these preliminary steps meets the definition of “defect.” To be a title defect, the notice of intention or the existence of the special improvement district must have subjected Vestin’s title to a claim from Eagle Mountain on the policy dates. No such claim existed. Both leading treatises on the law of title insurance, as well as virtually all existing case authority, reject Vestin’s argument and support a denial of coverage. Moreover, if the Court construed “defect” to encompass Vestin’s claim, it would nullify other key

provisions of the title policies.

Vestin also argues that its claim is covered because the notice of intention recorded by Eagle Mountain constituted notice of the exercise of a police power—namely, the creation of the special improvement district. Vestin contends that this meets an exception to the policies’ police power exclusion. This argument also fails. While the creation of a special improvement district may be an exercise of the police power, the special improvement district caused no injury to Vestin on the policy dates. The only relevant exercise of the police power was Eagle Mountain’s levy of the assessment, which occurred eight months after the policies were issued and therefore is not covered.

Similarly flawed is Vestin’s insistence that the notice of intention and/or the special improvement district are an “incorrectness” in the policies or an “other matter” affecting the validity of Vestin’s mortgages. These preliminary steps in the process of levying an assessment did not harm Vestin, and Vestin has identified nothing incorrect in the assurance offered under the policies.

Finally, in an effort to cloud the issues and create ambiguity in the policies, Vestin turns to affidavits which vary or contradict the express terms of the policies. The policies are fully integrated and unambiguous, and Vestin’s efforts to confuse the issues through self-serving parol evidence should be rejected.

The trial court correctly concluded that Vestin failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. First American requests that this Court affirm that decision.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **I. VESTIN’S ALLEGED INJURY WAS CAUSED BY THE POST-POLICY ASSESSMENT LIEN WHICH IS NOT A CONDITION COVERED UNDER THE POLICIES.**

##### **A. Title Insurance Insures Only Against Conditions Existing on or Before the Effective Date of a Policy.**

A fundamental principle of title insurance law is that title insurance affords coverage only for risks which exist on the effective date of the policy.

The insuring clauses of ALTA title insurance policies are modified by an introductory phrase which advises that risks are insured against ‘as of Date of Policy.’ That the title company insures ‘as of Date of Policy’ means that an insured is protected against loss by reason of a lien, encumbrance, or other title defect . . . only if it existed *prior to* the date the policy was issued.

1 Joyce D. Palomar, Title Insurance Law § 5:2: at 5-4 (2003) (emphasis in original); accord National Mortgage Corp. v. American Title Ins. Co., 261 S.E.2d 844, 847-48 (N.C. 1980) (“[T]itle insurance operates to protect a purchaser or mortgagee against defects in or encumbrances on title which are in existence at the time the insured takes his title. ‘It is not prospective in its operation and has no relation to liens or requirements arising thereafter.’”); Barlow Burke, Law of Title Insurance § 3.03 at 3-48 (3d ed. 2003) (“Title insurance is an indemnification agreement for the title as it exists on the effective date of the policy.”). In other words, the policy date “marks the moment the title is insured.” 1 Joyce D. Palomar § 5.2: at 5-6. Because Vestin has not identified any defect in or lien or encumbrance on the title that existed on the effective date of the Policies, the trial court correctly concluded that the Policies afford Vestin no coverage.

**B. The Assessment Lien Attached Post-Policy and Therefore is Not Covered.**

The cause of Vestin’s alleged injury is the Assessment Lien that Eagle Mountain levied against the Property. Vestin acknowledges that the Lien is the source of its purported injury. In paragraph 35 of Vestin’s complaint, Vestin alleges that “Vestin and the assignees have been damaged *as a result of the Assessment* in an amount of not less than \$2,241,348.70, the amount of the Assessment against the Parcels.” (R. 9 (emphasis added).) Because the Assessment Lien did not exist when First American issued the Policies, Vestin’s claim is not covered under the Policies.

Vestin insists that the Policy jackets provide coverage for the alleged loss caused by the Assessment Lien. (R. 3, 5 (Compl. ¶¶ 10, 17); Vestin Brief at 27.) The Policy jackets state:

SUBJECT TO THE EXCLUSIONS FROM COVERAGE,  
THE EXCEPTIONS FROM COVERAGE CONTAINED IN  
SCHEDULE B AND THE CONDITIONS AND  
STIPULATIONS, FIRST AMERICAN . . . insures, *as of  
Date of Policy* shown in Schedule A, against loss or damage,  
not exceeding the Amount of Insurance stated in Schedule A,  
sustained or incurred by reason of:

...

2. Any defect in or lien or encumbrance on the title;

...

6. The priority of any lien or encumbrance over the lien  
of the insured mortgage . . . .

(R. 80, 100 (capitalization in original) (emphasis added); Exs. 1 & 2 attached.) Under this provision, for harm caused by the Assessment Lien to be covered under the Policies, the Assessment Lien must have existed “as of Date of Policy.” Moreover, this provision of the Policies states that it is subject to the “Exclusions From Coverage.” Paragraph 3(d) of the Exclusions From Coverage provides that “[d]efects, liens, encumbrances, adverse claims or other matters . . . attaching or created subsequent to Date of Policy” are “*expressly excluded*” from coverage. (R. 81, 101 (emphasis added); Exs. 1 & 2 attached.)

Thus, whether the Assessment Lien is covered under the Policies depends upon when the Lien attached or was created. If this occurred after the April 26, 2000 and August 28, 2000 effective dates of the Policies, any loss or damage suffered by Vestin as a result of the Assessment Lien is not covered under the Policies.<sup>4</sup> Under the Utah Municipal Improvement District Act, an assessment does not constitute a “lien against

---

<sup>4</sup> As Vestin concedes in its complaint, Eagle Mountain did not declare its intention to create the Special Improvement District until June 20, 2000—approximately two months *after* First American issued Policy 2701. (R. 6.) It would not be credible for Vestin to suggest that the existence of the Special Improvement District and/or the prospect of the Assessment retroactively created a “lien or encumbrance” as of April 26, 2000, the date of Policy 2701. However, even if Vestin maintains its claim under Policy 2701, the claim fails for the same reasons that its claim to coverage under Policy 3192 fails.

the property upon which the assessment is levied” until the “effective date of the ordinance levying the assessment.” Utah Code Ann. § 17A-3-323 (1999).<sup>5</sup> Here, Eagle Mountain did not pass the ordinance levying the assessment until April 25, 2001—eight months *after* the latter of the two Policy dates, and the ordinance did not become effective until April 30, 2001, when the City published the Ordinance. (R. 213; Ex. 5, attached.) Thus, because the Lien was not created until April 30, 2001, it did not exist on April 20, 2000 or August 28, 2000, when First American issued the Policies.

The Assessment Ordinance itself confirms this conclusion. Section 3, entitled “Levy of Assessments,” states: “The Town Council of the Issuer does *hereby levy* an assessment to be assessed upon the real property identified in the Assessment List.” (R. 202 (emphasis added); Ex. 5 attached.) Thus, by its own terms, the Assessment was not levied until late April 2001, well after the Policy dates. Further, under the heading “Lien of Assessment,” the Ordinance provides that the Assessment “shall constitute a lien against the property upon which the assessment is levied *on the effective date of this Assessment Ordinance.*” (R. 208 (emphasis added); Ex. 5 attached.) The Ordinance became effective “immediately upon its passage and approval and publication as required

---

<sup>5</sup> The Assessment could not have been a lien on the August 28, 2000 Policy date on other statutory grounds. Under the Utah Municipal Improvement Act, the Assessment could not have been levied prior to the August 28 policy date because section 17A-3-312(1) provides that assessments may be levied only “after all contracts for the making of the improvements have been let, the property price for all property acquired to make the improvements has been finally determined, and the reasonable cost of any work to be done by the municipality has been determined.” Utah Code Ann. § 17A-3-312(1). Eagle Mountain did not authorize its engineer to prepare a bid notice to contractors until August 1, 2000. (R. 135; Ex. 4 attached (Resolution No. 14-00 § 6).) Thus, the contracts for the making of the improvements had not been let as of the Policy dates. Moreover, Eagle Mountain had not determined the final cost of the improvements as of the Policy dates. When the costs were disclosed in the April 2001 Assessment Ordinance, the costs were \$7.4 million less than the estimate contained in the August 2000 Notice of Intention. Similarly, section 17A-3-317(1) requires that, before an assessment “can be levied,” an “assessment list be prepared designating each parcel of property proposed to be assessed and the amount of the assessment apportioned to this property.” Utah Code Ann. § 17A-3-317(1). Because the final costs of the improvements were not determined until much later, the assessment list apportioning costs could not have been prepared on or before the Policy dates. Thus, the Assessment could not be levied—and therefore could not be a lien—before First American issued the Policies.

by law.” (R. 210; Ex. 5 attached.)<sup>6</sup> As a matter of law, the Assessment did not become a lien until April 30, 2001, eight months after Policy 3192 was issued. As the Assessment became a lien or encumbrance well after the Policy dates, it is “expressly excluded” from coverage.<sup>7</sup>

In its complaint, Vestin also alleges that it is entitled to coverage under the Form 104 endorsement to the Policies. This endorsement provides that First American insures “against loss or damage which such insured shall sustain by reason of . . . [t]he existence of any *subsisting* tax or assessment lien which is prior to the insured mortgage.” (R. 3-4, 6 (Compl. ¶¶ 11, 18); R. 111; Ex. 1 attached (emphasis added).) For the Assessment Lien to be covered under this endorsement, it must have been a lien “subsisting” when the Policies were issued. “Subsistent” is defined as “to have existence.” Merriam-Webster’s Collegiate Dictionary 1174 (10th ed. 1994). As noted above, the Utah Municipal Improvement District Act states that an assessment lien is created “on the effective date of the ordinance levying the assessment.” Because the Assessment Ordinance was not effective until April 30, 2001—more than eight months after First American issued the last of the two Policies—the Lien did not exist or “subsist” when the Policies were

---

<sup>6</sup> Vestin has no credible argument that the existence of the Special Improvement District itself created a “lien or encumbrance.” The Utah Municipal Improvement District Act defines “special improvement district” simply as a “district created for the purpose of making improvements under this part.” Utah Code Ann. § 17A-3-303(19) (1999). The Utah Supreme Court has explained that a special improvement district is “a separate arm of the government formed for public purposes” with power to levy taxes for the limited purposes of the district. Tygesen v. Magna Water Co., 119 Utah 274, 280, 298, 226 P.2d 127, 131, 139 (1950). Thus, the District itself is not a lien or encumbrance. Moreover, the fact that property is contained within a special improvement district is not information that need be disclosed by a title insurer. See Burman v. Richmond Homes Ltd., 821 P.2d 913, 921 (Colo. Ct. App. 1991) (holding that title insurer “had no duty to disclose the existence of the improvement district at closing”).

<sup>7</sup> The Policies’ exceptions similarly bar coverage. Schedule B, Part 1, entitled “Exceptions From Coverage,” states that “[t]his policy *does not insure* against loss or damage . . . which arise by reason of: . . . This property lies within the boundaries of Eagle Mountain City and *is subject to all charges and assessments levied thereunder.*” (Exs. 1 & 2, attached (emphasis added).) Schedule B goes on to state that a check was made for levied assessments and that none were found. (Id.) This was a true and accurate statement, as Eagle Mountain did not levy the Assessment until eight months after First American issued Policy 3192.

issued. Not only does Vestin have no claim to coverage under the Form 104 Endorsement, but the language of the Endorsement affirmatively establishes the parties' expressed intent that post-policy liens are not covered under the Policies at all.

**C. The SID Notice and Special Improvement District Caused Vestin No Injury.**

Faced with the foregoing clear and unequivocal policy language barring coverage, Vestin is left scrambling for some condition which *did* exist on the Policies' effective dates. Vestin settles on preliminary steps in the process that led to the post-policy Assessment Lien—namely, Eagle Mountain's recordation of the SID Notice and the mere existence of the Special Improvement District. Specifically, Vestin contends that, “[b]ecause the Policies did not except or exclude from coverage the Eagle Mountain SID, and because notice of the Eagle Mountain SID was recorded in the public records, the existence of the Eagle Mountain SID renders First American liable on the Policies under the insuring clauses.” (Vestin Brief at 13.)

A fatal flaw in Vestin's argument is that the SID Notice and the Special Improvement District caused no loss or harm to Vestin. The Policies plainly provide that, for a defect to be covered under the Policies, not only must it exist “as of Date of Policy,” but the “loss or damage” must be “sustained or incurred by reason of” the identified defect. (R. 80, 100; Exs. 1 & 2 attached.) Vestin has not identified any loss or damage sustained by reason of the SID Notice and the Special Improvement District. Instead, Vestin's complaint states the contrary, conceding that its alleged damages were “a result of the Assessment.” (R. 9 (Compl. ¶ 35).)

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